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FTC’S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. The Acquisition 

1. In mid-2018, Englewood, through its consultant Chartis, engaged with five 

potential health system partners: HMH, 

1 Englewood entered into a definitive affiliation agreement 

with HMH on September 23, 2019, under which HMH will become the sole 

member and ultimate parent entity of Englewood.2 

II. The Parties To The Acquisition 

2. HMH is New Jersey’s largest healthcare system, with twelve GAC hospitals, 

two children’s hospitals, two rehabilitation hospitals, and one behavioral health 

hospital spanning eight counties in northern and central New Jersey.3 HMH formed 

as the result of a merger between two major New Jersey health systems, 

Hackensack University Health Network and Meridian Health, in 2016.4 Most 

recently, HMH acquired JFK Medical Center in 2018 and Carrier Clinic in 2019.5 

HMH owns and operates two GAC hospitals in Bergen County, NJ: HUMC, its 

691-bed flagship AMC providing primary through quaternary services, and 

1 Chartis Hrg. Tr. at 399-400; ; FTC Complaint ¶ 27; Englewood 
Answer ¶ 27. 
2 HMH Answer ¶ 1; PX9004; see also . 
3 FTC Complaint ¶ 22; HMH Answer ¶ 22; see PX9006; PX9007-001. HMH 
employs more than 35,000 people and reported $5.9 billion in revenue in 2019. 
HMH Answer ¶ 20; PX9008-007. 
4 HMH Answer ¶ 21. 
5 FTC Complaint ¶ 21; HMH Answer ¶ 21; 

1 

. 
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employer because in such a plan the employer pays the cost of claims.24 A price 

increase to a fully insured employer is applied to the employer’s expected future 

claims experience, which is used to calculate premiums for the employer.25 

11. A merger between competing providers also harms patients by lessening 

stage 2 competition, where providers are competing on non-price dimensions to 

attract patients.26 Academic studies have shown that hospital mergers and 

acquisitions have had detrimental or neutral effects on patient experience and on 

important hospital quality metrics such as mortality and readmission rates.27 

V. The Relevant Antitrust Markets 

12. Because insurers, not their members, are the direct buyers of healthcare 

services, relevant markets are properly analyzed from the insurer’s perspective.28 

However, patients’ perspectives are also important because insurers are trying to 

develop a health plan that is attractive to employers, and insurers want to include 

hospitals that patients value highly.29 

24 See DAG Hrg. Tr. at 713-14. 
25 See ; DAG Hrg. Tr. at 714-15; . 
Employees may feel the price increase through higher premiums, co-pays, co-
insurance, or deductibles or through changes in the level of benefits afforded by 
the plan. See DAG Hrg. Tr. at 714-16. 
26 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 550-51; PX8000 ¶ 111; Holy Name Hrg. Tr. at 61-62; 

. 
27 PX8000 ¶¶ 206-07; Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1457-58; PX8001 ¶¶ 119-125; ; 
PX9086; PX9085; PX9088; PX1321. 
28 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 542, 595; PX8000 ¶ 124. 
29 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 554-55. 

5 

https://highly.29
https://perspective.28
https://rates.27
https://patients.26
https://employer.25
https://claims.24
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“a commonsense” view because “people . . . would want to stay close to home” 

and “I as a consumer would not purchase a plan if I couldn’t see any of the 

hospitals in my county where I live . . .”76 

42.  analysis of removing  from its 

discusses that “ 

.”77 

43. Horizon: Horizon—HMH’s joint venture partner and the largest commercial 

insurer in New Jersey—views Bergen County as “economically significant.”78 

44. A Horizon presentation regarding its OMNIA tiered network discussed 

HUMC’s positioning to “significantly grow inpatient volumes in Bergen County” 

from lower tier providers.79 

45. Horizon’s letter of support discussing the Acquisition specifically mentions 

Bergen County three times, without mentioning any other specific county.80 

46. Horizon could not market a plan to residents and employers in Bergen 

County that did not include any Bergen County hospital in network.81 

47. : testified that Bergen County is 

76 AmeriHealth Hrg. Tr. at 690. 

79 PX1035-012. 
80 Horizon Hrg. Tr. at 1121; DX1101. 
81 Horizon Hrg. Tr. at 1119-20; 

77 ; . 
78 Horizon Hrg. Tr. at 1118. 

. 

14 

https://network.81
https://county.80
https://providers.79
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5. Economic Evidence Confirms the Commercial Reality that 
Bergen County is a Relevant Market 

65. Dr. Dafny identified Bergen County as a candidate geographic market 

because: (1) Englewood and its closest and largest HMH rival, HUMC, are both in 

Bergen County;108 (2) Bergen County residents highly value hospitals in Bergen 

County;109 and (3) Bergen County is economically significant, in that commercial 

insurers view it as an attractive business opportunity and want to offer health plans 

that are attractive to its residents.110 

6. Bergen County Satisfies the Hypothetical Monopolist Test 

66. Every major commercial insurer serving this area has testified that it cannot 

offer a marketable plan in Bergen County that does not include Bergen County 

hospitals.111 Consequently, these insurers must accept a SSNIP from a hypothetical 

monopolist of all Bergen County hospitals to compete to sell insurance in Bergen 

County.112 The market reflects this commercial reality: no commercial insurer 

markets a plan in Bergen County without any Bergen County hospital in network 

108 PX8000 ¶ 134. 
109 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 559; PX8000 ¶¶ 140, 148 & Fig. 12 (77% of Bergen County 
resident hospital discharges are from hospitals in Bergen County); see also 

74.4% of ’s commercial members in Bergen County sought 
inpatient care at a Bergen County facility); . 
110 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 560; PX8000 ¶ 147; see also Horizon Hrg. Tr. at 1118-19. 
111 ; AmeriHealth Hrg. Tr. at 686, 690; Aetna Hrg. Tr. at 
339; Horizon Hrg. Tr. at 1119-20; . 
112 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-65; PX8000 ¶ 151. 

19 
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today.113 Thus, Bergen County satisfies the HMT.114 

67. Dr. Dafny’s analysis confirms a hypothetical monopolist of inpatient GAC 

services to Bergen County residents could profitably impose a SSNIP because 

insurers would not cease selling plans in Bergen County.115 Importantly, the HMT 

does not require a hypothetical monopolist to uniformly raise price at all of its 

hospitals.116 

68. As a confirmatory test, Dr. Dafny also performed a WTP analysis on a 

subset of the hospitals, specifically, the six in Bergen County supplying inpatient 

GAC services to Bergen County residents.117 To assess a hypothetical monopolist 

of these hospitals’ ability to impose a SSNIP, Dr. Dafny modeled the value of such 

a monopolist to insurers’ networks relative to the sum of the value of the individual 

hospitals/hospital systems in Bergen County today.118 WTP is well accepted in 

economic literature.119 It revealed a 65% increase in WTP for the monopolist’s 

services, which equates to a price increase of far more than 5%, implying that an 

113 AmeriHealth Hrg. Tr. at 690; United Hrg. Tr. at 164; ; 
; see also ; PX7041 at 129-31; PX8000 ¶¶ 80-81, 83-85, 

88, 91. 
114 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 564-65; PX8000 ¶ 155. 
115 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 562-63, 1507-08; PX8000 ¶ 148. 
116 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 1509; see also PX9050 (HMG) § 4.2.2. Defendants’ expert, 
Dr. Wu, acknowledges that the HMG do not prescribe a specific method or 
algorithm for implementing the HMT. Wu Hrg. Tr. at 972. 
117 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-64, 1509-12; PX8000 ¶¶ 144, 151 & Figs. 13, 14. 
118 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-64; PX8000 ¶ 151 & Fig. 13. 
119 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 548; PX8000 ¶ 117. 
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insurer would likely pay a SSNIP to a hypothetical monopolist of Bergen County 

hospitals rather than offer a plan that excludes all of them.120 

69. Based on the WTP analysis, Dr. Dafny concluded that a hypothetical 

monopolist of the six Bergen County hospitals could profitably impose at least a 

SSNIP for inpatient GAC services provided to commercial insurers and their 

members in Bergen County.121 It therefore follows that a hypothetical monopolist 

of all hospitals supplying inpatient GAC services to Bergen County residents could 

profitably impose a SSNIP.122 

70. Dr. Dafny’s WTP analysis also confirmed that a hypothetical monopolist of 

the six Bergen County hospitals could profitably impose a SSNIP for inpatient 

GAC services provided to commercial insurers and their members in the four-

county area.123 

71. The hypothetical monopolist’s ability to engage in price discrimination is 

not essential for a patient-based hospital services market nor required by the 

HMG.124 Nevertheless, Dr. Dafny explained the feasibility of price 

120 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-64, 1511; PX8000 ¶ 151 & Fig. 13. 
121 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-64, 1510-12; PX8000 ¶¶ 144, 150-53 & Figs. 13, 14. 
122 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 563-65, , 1509-10. 
123 Dafny Hrg. Tr. 1511-12; PX8000 ¶¶ 144, 152-53, Fig. 14. 
124 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 604, 1501, 1503-04; JX0101 at 30, 38; see also PX9050 
(HMG) § 4.2. Further, the HMG do not require that firms in the market be actively 
engaged in price discrimination, but rather, that “the hypothetical monopolist could 
discriminate based on customer location[.]” PX9050 § 4.2.2 (emphasis added). 
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discrimination.125 

VI. High Market Shares and Market Concentration Levels Establish a 
Strong Presumption of Harm to Competition in the Relevant Market 

72. The FTC calculated market shares in Bergen County using two accepted 

methods: patient-based shares, which account for all hospitals any Bergen County 

residents use, and hospital-based shares, which calculate shares based on 

discharges from the six Bergen County hospitals and includes discharges of 

patients residing outside of Bergen County.126 Both methods yield market shares 

and concentrations that exceed the presumption for an unlawful transaction.127 

A. HMH will Control at Least 47% of Inpatient GAC Services Sold 
and Provided to Commercial Insurers and Their Members in 
Bergen County 

73. HMH’s acquisition of Englewood creates an entity with a market share of 

47.4% using a conservative method that accounts for any hospitals that Bergen 

County residents use, including NYC and all other New Jersey hospitals.128 

Limiting share calculations to only Bergen County hospitals, HMH would control 

over 65% of the market post-Acquisition.129 

125 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 601-03,1553-54; JX0101 at 30-42. 
126 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 566-69; PX8000 ¶¶ 161, 163-66 & Figs. 15, 16. 
127 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 568; PX8000 ¶¶ 161-66. 
128 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 567; PX8000 ¶ 161 & Fig. 15. 
129 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 568; PX8000 ¶ 165 & Fig. 16. 
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constitute % of ’s Bergen County commercial inpatient spend.133 

B. The Acquisition is Also Presumptively Illegal Based on the 
Change in Market Concentration 

76. Calculating HHIs using the conservative patient-based method, the HHI 

increase from HMH’s acquisition of Englewood is 841—over four times the 200-

point threshold—and yields a highly concentrated market of 2,835.134 Limiting the 

calculation to Bergen County hospital discharges, the HHI increase is 1,510 points, 

yielding a post-Acquisition HHI of more than 5,000.135 

77. Both measures indicate that the Acquisition is likely to substantially lessen 

competition and enhance Defendants’ market power.136 

78. Defendants’ experts have not defined alternative relevant geographic 

133 ; . 
134 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 570; PX8000 ¶ 161 & Fig. 15. 

 will be all attributed to Hackensack Meridian hospitals if inclusion 
of Englewood”). 

135 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 570; PX8000 ¶¶ 164-65, 166 & Fig. 16. Dr. Dafny also 
calculated market shares and concentrations based on case-weighted discharges, 
which place greater weight on more complicated and intensive services. PX8000 ¶ 
160. These market shares and concentrations easily establish the presumption as 
well. Id. ¶¶ 161, 166 & Figs. 15, 16. 
136 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 570-71; PX8000 ¶ 167. 
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markets,137 but even the proposed adjustments they submit result in highly 

concentrated markets that would be presumed anticompetitive.138 

VII. The Acquisition Would Substantially Lessen Competition in the 
Relevant Market 

79. Defendants vigorously compete with each other today and HMH will raise 

prices after the merger. 

A. HMH and Englewood are Close Competitors in the Relevant 
Market 

80. Insurers, Defendants, and other markets participants confirm the closeness of 

competition between HMH and Englewood. 

1. Insurers View HMH and Englewood as Alternatives and 
Close Competitors 

81. : HUMC is the best alternative to Englewood for ’s members 

because “of the scope of services that are provided. There is a tremendous amount 

of overlap in . . . the bread-and-butter services that are provided at a particular 

facility . . . .”139 When  conducted a  analysis for , 

they estimated  of members would go to  for elective 

services if went out of network “because of the scope of services that 

are rendered at  today and the overlap at 

137 Wu Hrg. Tr. at 973, 977 (Wu did not apply the HMT to any of the areas for 
which he calculated HHIs). 
138 PX8002 ¶ 39 & Figs. 3-4. 
139 ; see also . 
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94. In HMH’s competitive tracking for its Bergen County hospitals, it 

consistently identifies Englewood as a competitor and, sometimes, a top 

competitor.171 HUMC’s June 2018 “Market Highlights & Trends” analysis 

concluded that HUMC was the overall market share leader and market leader for 

six separate service lines in Bergen County and identified Englewood as the #3 

competitor overall and #3 or #4 in seven different service lines.172 

95. HMH is regularly concerned with leakage out of its system to Englewood.173 

96. To understand even modest changes in shares, HMH compiled information 

“specific to Englewood’s market share increases in Bergen County.”174 This 

detailed “competitor profile” of Englewood assessed its market share, geographic 

draw, quality scores, and financial statistics.175 

97. HMH’s CEO testified that HMH lacks an incentive to transfer patients to 

Englewood today because “quite frankly, you know, financially there’s no real 

incentive to . . . it’s a competitor.”176 He also described Englewood as offering “a 

higher level of care than some of the other community hospitals” and noted the 

171 Garrett Hrg. Tr. at 800-04; PX1055-001; PX1102-011, -015, -032; PX1143-
025-27; PX1029-064-65; ; PX1105-006, -009-10, -013, -018-20, -025; 

; PX7005 at 248. 
172 PX1139-009. 
173 PX1063-001, -007; PX1239-017-18; PX1125-001-02; PX1128-001; PX1127-
014; see also PX1207-006. 
174 PX1106-001. 

176 PX7004 at 189-90; see also 
175 PX1107-001, -003-13; see also PX1118-001, -003-12. 

. 
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services they offer in cardiac surgery, oncology surgery, orthopedic surgery, and 

neurosciences are services that other community hospitals typically do not offer.177 

3. Other Market Participants View Defendants as Close 
Competitors 

98. Other hospitals and market participants  recognize direct 

competition between HMH and Englewood.178 HUMC and Englewood are two of 

only three hospitals in Bergen County that offer tertiary services.179 Holy Name 

refers patients to only HUMC and Englewood for tertiary services, and not to 

Valley or to hospitals in New York.180 

4. Quantitative Analysis by Dr. Dafny and by Third Parties 
Confirms that Defendants are Close Competitors 

99. Dr. Dafny tested the closeness of competition between Defendants by 

calculating what percentage of patients at each of Defendants’ hospitals, if that 

hospital were no longer available, would turn to the other Defendant’s hospitals.181 

100. Dr. Dafny’s diversion analysis found that HMH is Englewood’s closest 

substitute by a wide margin for patients in Bergen County. If Englewood were to 

become unavailable, roughly 45% of its Bergen County patients would seek care at 

177 PX7004 at 98. 
178 Holy Name Hrg. Tr. at 63, 86-87, 91; , ; 

 PX3086-002. 
179 Holy Name Hrg. Tr. at 86-87, 91. 
180 Holy Name Hrg. Tr. at 91, 123-24. 
181 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 571-72; PX8000 ¶¶ 173, 175-76. 
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103. Defendants also have similar acuity profiles.189 The fact that HUMC is an 

AMC and offers some non-overlapping services does not negate the high degree of 

substitutability with Englewood.190 Further, insurers utilize alternative providers 

for the non-overlapping services HUMC provides and contract separately for some 

of those services.191 

104. The commercial insurer pricing differential between HMH and Englewood 

is consistent with their substitutability in the eyes of insurers. Where networks 

already include HMH, Englewood adds relatively little value because insurers have 

already contracted with its closest substitute. Consequently, Englewood is 

incentivized to lower its price to secure inclusion in commercial insurer networks 

and thereby access additional patient volume; the Acquisition will eliminate this 

incentive.192 

B. The Acquisition Significantly Reduces Stage 1 Competition and 
Will Likely Result in Increased Prices 

105. Defendants compete for inclusion in health insurer networks today. 

Following the Acquisition, HMH’s already substantial bargaining leverage in its 

negotiations with commercial insurers would increase because insurers would no 

longer have the option of contracting with Englewood if they fail to reach an 

189 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 1513-15; PX8002 ¶¶ 53-56 & Figs. 8-10. 
190 See infra Conclusions of Law, Section III.B ¶¶ 36-37. 
191 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at 1515-16; ; PX8002 ¶ 57. 
192 Dafny Hrg. Tr. at , 1521-22; PX8002 ¶ 10. 
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135. Englewood’s consultant, Chartis, concluded that fewer than 10% of 

inpatients from Englewood’s PSA outmigrate to New York, and the small 

percentage that leave New Jersey go to NY-Presbyterian “or to a specialty hospital 

like Memorial Sloan Kettering for oncology or [Hospital for Special Surgery] for 

orthopedics.”260 A 2020 HMH market share presentation also showed outmigration 

from HUMC’s service area under 10%.261 

136. New York City hospitals have experienced flat or decreasing outmigration 

from Bergen County over the previous few years.262 

4. “Front Doors” Do Not and Will Not Constrain Defendants 

137. If hospitals outside Bergen County open new outpatient facilities in Bergen 

County, this would not sufficiently constrain HMH, as such facilities do not shift 

meaningful inpatient GAC volume outside of Bergen County today.263 

138. Between , just  patients who received 

treatment at  outpatient facility in Bergen County received 

additional treatment—either inpatient or outpatient—at one of ’s hospitals 

within 90 days.264 

260 Chartis Hrg. Tr. at 525-26; ; see also Chartis Hrg. Tr. 
at 396-97. 
261 Sparta Hrg. Tr. at 1164; PX1295-065. 
262 ; PX7055 at 185-86; PX7031 at 280-81; . 
263 See PX7031 at 231; PX8000 ¶¶ 177, 217-22 & Figs. 17, 20, App’x. F. 
264 ; . 

; 
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139. Other entities that have previously attempted to open outposts in Bergen 

County have closed or been unsuccessful,265 while affiliations with Bergen County 

hospitals shift very little inpatient volume outside of Bergen County.266 

140. Dr. Dafny accounted for a potential continuation of outmigration trends to 

New York City hospitals and concluded it would not meaningfully reduce the 

Defendants’ post-merger increase in market power.267 

141. Defendants’ expert, Dr. Wu, did not conduct any quantitative analysis of the 

effect of opening a “front door” facility on inpatient volumes or market shares.268 

E. Alleged Capacity Issues Have Not Changed HMH’s Incentives to 
Compete Aggressively 

142. Purported capacity issues at HUMC have not dissuaded HMH from 

competing for network participation, including offering price discounts and 

undertaking other efforts to increase patient volume.269 Lifting capacity constraints 

at HUMC would only incentivize lower prices to the extent that such constraints 

265 Holy Name Hrg. Tr. at 77 (NY-Presbyterian “planting those outposts, if you 
will, wasn’t providing referrals into New York”); PX4009; PX4012 . 
266 PX7031 at 234-37, 251; PX8000 ¶ 679 & Fig. 25. 
267 PX8000 ¶¶ 217-22. 
268 Wu Hrg. Tr. at 983. 
269 Young Hrg. Tr. at 1075; ; PX8002 ¶¶ 11, 174-75. Dr. Dafny 
concluded HMH’s purported capacity constraints have not impacted its decisions 
regarding network participation, which is necessary for such constraints to impact 
the negotiated price. Importantly, even if HUMC were capacity constrained, Dr. 
Dafny’s conclusions about the Acquisition would be unchanged. PX8002 ¶¶ 63, 
76-78. 
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that HUMC could build out in the future;309 HUMC has made successful efforts to 

improve throughput, many of which are still ongoing;310 HUMC continues to 

expand its service lines;311 and HUMC is licensed for 781 beds, but only staffs 

711.312 

c. HUMC Could Use Englewood Today to Alleviate 
Purported Capacity Issues 

161. Englewood is available to accept patient transfers from HUMC today to 

alleviate alleged capacity issues, but HUMC fails to utilize this option.313 HMH’s 

executives testified that they limit transfers from HUMC because they lack the 

financial incentive to transfer patients.314 

d. Even if the Acquisition Could Alleviate Alleged Capacity 

309 Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1443-44; PX8001 ¶¶ 38-42; Sparta Hrg. Tr. at 1147, 1173-
1175; PX1052-001-02; ; see also PX7004 at 156-57; 

; ; see generally PX1129; PX1133. 
310 PX8001 ¶ 36; PX7034 at 92--95, 99-102, 213, . 
311 PX8001 ¶¶ 43-44; PX7034 at 157-73, 175-221; PX1050 at 003-05, -008-14; 

; ; ; PX1244-058; ; 
PX1119-003-06; PX1124-020, -036. 
312 PX8001 ¶ 37; PX7009 at 174-78; PX1078-001. Additionally, although 
Defendants’ expert contends that HUMC’s ORs are over capacity and causing 
problems throughout the hospital, HUMC’s President admitted that 

Compare Nolan Hrg. Tr. at 1195-96 with Sparta 
Hrg. Tr. at 1173; PX7034 at 232. Finally, although Defendants suggest that 85% 
occupancy is an industry “maximum,” 83-85% capacity at a hospital is considered 
“optimal.” Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1445; PX8001 ¶¶ 45-49. 
313 Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1446; Nolan Hrg. Tr. at 1201; 

handles today. Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1446. Englewood currently offers up to 86% of 
the same specialized services that HUMC offers. Nolan Hrg. Tr. at 1211. 

; PX7004 at 189-90. 

. More 
than 90% of inpatient transfers into HUMC are for services that Englewood 

314 
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For example, doctor communication and stroke readmission rates worsened at 

hospitals following HMH’s acquisition of them.326 An HMH board member 

expressed concerns about the effects on HMH’s quality of acquiring hospitals.327 

c. Benefits of Englewood Joining the HMH System are 
Speculative, Unsubstantiated, and Not Merger Specific 

168. Independent hospitals have agility and nimbleness to 

respond to the needs of the community, consistently outperform the larger HMH, 

and are able to engage in many of the purported “benefits” of a larger system.328 

169. For example, while Englewood was named Leapfrog Pandemic Hero of the 

Year for its COVID-19 response,329 HMH was cited and fined by OSHA for 

“serious violations” for failing to protect employees from COVID-19 exposure.330 

Nurse union HPAE explained that HMH had an “inordinate” number of OSHA 

violations during COVID and characterized HMH’s response to COVID as “the 

worst of [their] employers across the state.”331 

170. Englewood could join other large systems that have similar capabilities to 

326 Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1453-54; PX8001 App’x D at 163, 181. 
327 PX1185-001-02. 
328 ; see also ; . 
Holy Name, which is a fraction of the size of HMH and has a smaller market share 
than Englewood, consistently receives higher quality ratings than HUMC. PX8000, 

; see also Brunnquell Hrg. Tr. at 1324-25. 

330 PX9037-001; PX7017 at 33-34, 163-70; see also PX7043 at 264; PX6023-002. 
331 PX7017 at 80, 179. 

Fig. 15; 
329 PX9003-001-03; PX7023 at 65; PX7025 at 13-15; PX9032-002. 
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350  offers many of the same capabilities and benefits 

to Englewood that HMH would.351 

FTC’S PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

I. The Court Has Jurisdiction Over This Action 

1. This Acquisition is alleged to violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

3. At all relevant times, Defendants have been engaging in activities in or 

affecting “commerce” as defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12. 

4. Defendants HMH and Englewood have consented to personal jurisdiction in 

the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey. Venue is proper in 

this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), as well as under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

II. The Standard For A Preliminary Injunction Is Met 

5. Section 13(b) authorizes the Court to issue a preliminary injunction “[u]pon 

a proper showing that, weighing the equities and considering the Commission’s 

likelihood of ultimate success, such action would be in the public interest.”352 

6. “To show a likelihood of ultimate success, the FTC must ‘raise questions 

350 ; ; ; 
PX1113-016. 
351 Romano Hrg. Tr. at 1456-57. 
352 FTC v. Penn State Hershey Med. Ctr., 838 F.3d 327, 349 (3d Cir. 2016). 

61 



 

    

   

     

  

  

    

 

  

  

      

    

    

  

  

  

                                                           
    

   
  
   

  
  
    
    

Case 2:20-cv-18140-JMV-JBC Document 337 Filed 06/04/21 Page 74 of 88 PageID: 56616 

going to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult and doubtful as to make them 

fair ground for thorough investigation, study, deliberation and determination by the 

FTC in the first instance and ultimately by the Court of Appeals,’”353 or the FTC 

may “show that there is a reasonable probability that the challenged transaction 

will substantially impair competition.”354 “[T]he FTC is not required to establish 

that the proposed merger would in fact violate section 7 of the Clayton Act.”355 

7. After assessing the FTC’s likelihood of success, the district court must 

weigh the equities to determine whether a preliminary injunction serves the public 

interest.356 “The public interests to be considered include: (1) effective 

enforcement of antitrust laws; and (2) ensuring that the FTC has the ability to order 

effective relief if it succeeds at the merits trial.”357 Ordinarily, “a showing of likely 

success on the merits will presumptively warrant an injunction.”358 

III. The FTC Has Shown A Likelihood Of Success On The Merits 

8. Section 7 forbids mergers where “the effect . . . may be substantially to 

lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly” in “any line of commerce or 

353 FTC v. Univ. Health, Inc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1218 (11th Cir. 1991) (quoting FTC 
v. Warner Commc’ns Inc., 742 F.2d 1156, 1162 (9th Cir. 1984)). 
354 FTC v. Sysco Corp., 113 F. Supp. 3d 1, 22 (D.D.C. 2015). 
355 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337; see also FTC v. Whole Foods Mkt., Inc., 548 F.3d 
1028, 1035 (D.C. Cir. 2008). 
356 FTC v. H.J. Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 726 (D.C. Cir. 2001). 
357 FTC v. Staples, Inc., 190 F. Supp. 3d 100, 137 (D.D.C. 2016). 
358 FTC v. Arch Coal, Inc., 329 F. Supp. 2d 109, 116 (D.D.C. 2004). 
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in any activity affecting commerce in any section of the country.” 15 U.S.C. § 18. 

9. Section 7 is intended to prevent anticompetitive mergers “in their 

incipiency,” before they create anticompetitive harm.359 “Congress used the words 

‘may be substantially to lessen competition’ . . . to indicate that its concern was 

with probabilities, not certainties.”360 “[A] certainty, even a high probability, need 

not be shown,” and any “doubts are to be resolved against the transaction.”361 “All 

that is necessary is that the merger create an appreciable danger of such 

consequences in the future.”362 Thus, the FTC need only establish that the merged 

firm will have the incentive to raise prices or reduce quality post-Acquisition.363 

10. The FTC establishes its prima facie case by demonstrating that the merger 

will result in undue concentration in a “relevant market.”364 If made, this showing 

creates a presumption that the merger is anticompetitive, and shifts the burden of 

production to Defendants.365 

11. Defendants must then rebut the presumption by presenting evidence “that 

the market-share statistics give an inaccurate account of the merger’s probable 

359 See United States v. Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. 321, 362 (1963). 
360 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337 (quoting Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 
294, 323 (1962)). 
361 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337. 
362 FTC v. Advocate Health Care Network, 841 F.3d 460, 467 (7th Cir. 2016). 
363 See United States v. H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d 36, 81 (D.D.C. 2011). 
364 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337-38; FTC v. Sanford Health, 926 F.3d 959, 962 (8th 
Cir. 2019). 
365 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337, 346-47; Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 363. 
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effects on competition.”366 “[T]he more compelling the prima facie case, the more 

evidence the defendant must present to rebut it successfully.”367 

12. If Defendants rebut the presumption, “the burden of production shifts back 

to the Government and merges with the ultimate burden of persuasion, which is 

incumbent on the government at all times.”368 

A. The Acquisition is Presumptively Unlawful 

13. A “relevant market is defined in terms of two components: the product 

market and the geographic market.”369 Firms often compete in multiple markets, 

some narrower and some broader, and a merger violates Section 7 if it may 

substantially lessen competition in “any” of these markets.370 

14. Courts assess mergers in narrow markets—“submarkets” or smaller areas 

“within the area of competitive overlap”371 —“because potential harms to 

competition will likely be less apparent in a broader, less concentrated market than 

in a narrower included market.”372 “If the analysis uses geographic markets that are 

too large, consumers will be harmed because the likely anticompetitive effects of 

366 Heinz, 246 F.3d at 715. 
367 Sanford, 926 F.3d at 963. 
368 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 337. 
369 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 338; see also Merger Guidelines § 4. 
370 Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 337 & n.65. 
371 See Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 357-58. 
372 FTC v. Peabody Energy Corp., 492 F. Supp. 3d 865, 885-86 (E.D. Mo. 2020); 
see also Times-Picayune Pub. Co. v. United States, 345 U.S. 594, 612 n.31 (1953). 
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hospital mergers will be understated.”373 

15. In hospital merger cases, market definition is informed by the two-stage 

process in which competition for hospital services occurs.374 “In the first stage, 

hospitals compete to be included in an insurance plan’s hospital network.”375 “In 

the second stage, hospitals compete to attract individual members of an insurer’s 

plan.”376 

1. Inpatient GAC Services Constitute a Relevant Product Market 

16. A product market consists of services that are “sufficiently close substitutes 

to constrain any anticompetitive [] pricing after the proposed merger.”377 

17. Courts routinely find that the cluster of inpatient GAC services sold to 

commercial insurers and their members is a relevant product market.378 

373 Advocate, 841 F.3d at 472. 
374 See Hershey, 838 F.3d at 342; Advocate, 841 F.3d at 465, 470-71; Saint 
Alphonsus Med. Ctr. - Nampa Inc. v. St. Luke’s Health Sys., 778 F.3d 775, 784 
n.10 (9th Cir. 2015). 
375 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 342. Insurers and hospitals negotiate agreements that 
determine the reimbursement rates the insurer pays when its members use the 
hospital. Id. 
376 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 342; see also St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 784 n.10. Because 
patients usually face similar costs when choosing among in-network hospitals, this 
second stage of competition focuses “primarily on non-price factors like 
convenience and reputation for quality.” Advocate, 841 F.3d at 465; see also 
Hershey, 838 F.3d at 342. 
377 H&R Block, Inc., 833 F. Supp. at 55; see also Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; 
Merger Guidelines § 4. 
378 See, e.g., Hershey, 838 F.3d at 338; Advocate, 841 F.3d at 467-68; United States 
v. Rockford Mem’l Corp., 898 F.2d 1278, 1284 (7th Cir. 1990). 
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18. Although each service could constitute a relevant product market, it is 

efficient and economically appropriate to analyze services together, as a “cluster,” 

when the competitive conditions are reasonably similar across services.379 

2. Bergen County is a Relevant Geographic Market 

19. A geographic market is any area “where, within the area of competitive 

overlap, the effect of the merger on competition will be direct and immediate.”380 

20. Geographic markets do not reflect absolute limitations on competition 

because competition does not abruptly stop at any particular geographic boundary. 

“[M]arkets need not—indeed cannot—be defined with scientific precision.”381 

Ultimately, “the relevant geographic market must be sufficiently defined so that 

the court understands in which part of the country competition is threatened.”382 

21. An element of “fuzziness would seem inherent in any attempt to delineate 

the relevant geographic market,”383 and “[w]hatever the market urged by the FTC, 

the other party can usually contend plausibly that something relevant was left out, 

. . . or that dividing lines between inclusion and exclusion were arbitrary.”384 

379 ProMedica Health Sys. v. FTC, 749 F.3d 559, 565-66 (6th Cir. 2014). 
380 Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 357; see also Advocate, 841 F.3d at 469. 
381 United States v. Conn. Nat’l Bank, 418 U.S. 656, 669 (1974); Advocate, 841 
F.3d at 476. 
382 Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 48-49; cf. Merger Guidelines § 4. 
383 Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 360 n.37. 
384 FTC v. Tronox Ltd., 332 F. Supp. 3d 187, 202 (D.D.C. 2018). 
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22. Competition for inpatient GAC services is fundamentally local.385 

23. “A common method employed by courts and the FTC to determine the 

relevant geographic market is the hypothetical monopolist test.”386 Under this test, 

a geographic area is a relevant market if a hypothetical monopolist controlling all 

relevant services in that area could profitably implement a SSNIP because the 

additional profit from customers who remain outweighs the losses from customers 

who leave.387 A 5% price increase is typically used in the analysis.388 

24. Bergen County passes the HMT because insurers “would accept a price 

increase rather than exclude all of the hospitals” in Bergen County from their 

networks.389 

25. No further analysis is needed to define the relevant geographic market. 

Uniform circuit court precedent for healthcare provider mergers holds that a 

proposed market that satisfies the HMT is a relevant geographic market.390 

26. The Third Circuit rejects the claim that a minority of patients who “travel to 

a distant hospital to obtain care significantly constrain the prices that the closer 

385 See Rockford Mem’l, 898 F.2d at 1284–85; Advocate, 841 F.3d at 470, 474. 
386 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 338. 
387 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 338; Advocate, 841 F.3d at 468. 
388 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 338 n.1. 
389 See Hershey, 838 F.3d at 346; St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 785; Sanford Health, 926 
F.3d at 963-64; see also supra Findings of Fact, Section V.B.6. 
390 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 346; Advocate, 841 F. 3d at 464, 468; St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d 
at 784; Sanford Health, 926 F.3d at 963. 
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hospital charges to patients who will not travel to other hospitals.”391 Likewise, a 

geographic market cannot be defeated by the fact that patients outside the market 

enter the market for care. Relying on such data is “not an appropriate method to 

define geographic markets in the hospital sector.”392 

27. Proof of competition outside of Bergen County—particularly for non-

overlapping services outside of the product market —does not defeat Bergen 

County as geographic market. Proof of a broader market does not “negative the 

existence” of a narrower one.393 

3. Market Shares and Concentration Levels Far Exceed a 
Presumption of Illegality 

28. A merger that significantly increases market shares and concentration is 

presumptively unlawful.394 It is “so inherently likely to lessen competition 

substantially that it must be enjoined” unless Defendants rebut the presumption.395 

29. Courts use basic metrics—market shares and HHIs—to determine whether a 

merger should be presumed anticompetitive.396 Market concentration is a “useful 

indicator of the likely competitive, or anticompetitive, effects of a merger.”397 

391 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 340-41; see also Advocate, 841 F.3d at 476. 
392 See Hershey, 838 F.3d at 339-40; see also Advocate, 841 F.3d at 469-72, 476. 
393 See, e.g., United States v. Cont’l Can Co., 378 U.S. 441, 458 (1964). 
394 Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 362-63; Heinz, 246 F.3d at 716. 
395 Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 363. 
396 See, e.g., Hershey, 838 F.3d at 347. 
397 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 346. 
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30. A merger is presumptively unlawful if it increases the HHI by more than 200 

points and results in a post-merger HHI exceeding 2,500.398 A merger is also 

presumptively unlawful if it yields an entity with more than 30% market share.399 

31. The Acquisition is presumptively unlawful, whether measured by hospital 

visits of Bergen County residents—including to New York hospitals and hospitals 

in other New Jersey counties—or by hospital visits at Bergen County hospitals— 

which include visits by patients residing outside Bergen County.400 

B. Evidence that the Acquisition will Eliminate Important 
Competition between Defendants Bolsters the Presumption 

32. Direct evidence of competition between Defendants strengthens the 

presumption of anticompetitive harm.401 

33. Competition among hospitals keeps prices in check by preserving leverage 

of insurers. The presence of multiple alternative, geographically proximate 

hospitals gives insurers options when forming networks, enabling them to 

negotiate better reimbursement rates and other terms.402 In addition to low prices, 

398 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 347; St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 786. 
399 Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 364; FTC v. Swedish Match, 131 F. Supp. 2d 
151, 166 (D.D.C. 2000). 
400 See supra Findings of Fact Section VI. 
401 See, e.g., Heinz, 246 F. 3d at 717; Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 71-72. 
402 See, e.g., FTC v. Sanford Health, 2017 WL 10810016, at *6 (D.N.D. Dec. 15, 
2017); FTC v. ProMedica Health Sys., Inc., 2011 WL 1219281, at *6-7 (N.D. Ohio 
Mar. 29, 2011); St. Luke’s, 2014 WL 407446, at *10. 
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hospital competition also promotes quality, accessibility, and innovation.403 

34. The loss of competition from a merger of two close competitors is likely to 

give the merged firm the ability to raise prices or reduce quality unilaterally.404 The 

likelihood of such effects turns on the degree of competition between the firms; the 

more customers view Defendants as substitutes, the greater the anticompetitive 

effects.405 Competitive harm is likely if a “significant fraction” of customers view 

Defendants as their top choices, but that fraction “need not approach a 

majority.”406 

35. Diversion ratios—which show the percentage of patients at a given hospital 

that, if the hospital were no longer available, would turn to each other hospital— 

are routinely used to measure closeness of competition.407 Dr. Dafny’s unrebutted 

diversion analysis shows the close competition between Defendants’ hospitals.408 

Dr. Dafny’s WTP analysis reinforces this conclusion.409 

403 See, e.g., Sanford, 2017 WL 10810016, at *7. 
404 See ProMedica, 749 F.3d at 569; FTC v. OSF Healthcare Sys., 852 F. Supp. 2d 
1069, 1083 (N.D. Ill. 2012); H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 81; Merger Guidelines 
§ 6. 
405 ProMedica, 749 F.3d at 569. 
406 ProMedica, 749 F.3d at 569 (quoting Merger Guidelines § 6); see also United 
States v. Aetna Inc., 240 F. Supp. 3d 1, 43 (D.D.C. 2017) (substantial lessening of 
competition can occur “where the merging parties are not the only, or the two 
largest, competitors in the market”). 
407 See, e.g., Advocate, 841 F.3d at 466; H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 86-88; St. 
Luke’s, 2014 WL 407446, at *10; see generally Merger Guidelines § 6.1. 
408 See supra Findings of Fact Section V.II.A ¶¶ 99-101. 
409 See supra Findings of Fact Section Section V.II.B ¶¶ 114-15. 
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36. Defendants’ argument that their hospitals are “complements” rather than 

substitutes, because HUMC is an AMC and Englewood is not, is contrary to 

Hershey. In Hershey, the Third Circuit preliminarily enjoined the acquisition by 

Penn State Hershey Medical Center, “a leading [AMC]” that “specializes in more 

complex, specialized services that are unavailable at most other hospitals,” of 

Pinnacle Health, a health system that “focuses on cost-effective primary and 

secondary services and offers only a limited range of more complex services.”410 

37. Insurers do not require that each hospital in their network provide the 

complete array of services the insurer offers its members.411 

38. HMH’s March 31, 2021 waiver letters should play no role in the Court’s 

decision. Courts strongly disfavor private “remedies” such as contractual rate caps 

or rate freezes because they do not remedy the loss of competition and can easily 

be circumvented;412 here, HMH’s letters are even less significant because they do 

not prevent Defendants from using leverage to increase rates post-Acquisition.413 

410 838 F.3d at 334; see also ProMedica, 749 F.3d at 562 (enjoining acquisition by 
ProMedica, which provided tertiary services, of St. Luke’s, which did not). 
411 See ProMedica, 749 F.3d at 567-68 (“It is true that [insurers] must offer their 
members (i.e., patients) a network that provides a complete package of hospital 
services,” but insurers “do not need to obtain all of those services from a single 
provider.”); see supra Findings of Fact Section V.II.A ¶ 103. 
412 See H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 82; Com. v. Partners Healthcare Sys., Inc., 
2015 WL 500995, at *23 (Mass. Super. Jan. 30, 2015). 
413 See Aetna, 240 F. Supp. 3d at 79-80; see also Chicago Bridge & Iron Co. N.V. 
v. FTC, 534 F.3d 410, 435 (5th Cir. 2008); Hosp. Corp. of Am. v. FTC, 807 F.2d 
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C. Defendants Have Failed to Rebut the Presumption of Illegality 

1. Entry, Expansion, or Repositioning Will Not Be Timely, 
Likely, or Sufficient 

39. To establish an entry defense, “Defendants bear the burden of demonstrating 

the ability of other [firms] to ‘fill the competitive void’ that will result from the 

proposed merger.”414 Defendants must show that entry or repositioning in response 

to the merger will be “timely, likely, and sufficient in its magnitude, character, and 

scope to deter or counteract the competitive effects of concern.”415 The “relevant 

timeframe” for consideration is “two to three years.”416 

40. A finding of “high entry barriers ‘eliminates the possibility that the reduced 

competition caused by the merger will be ameliorated by new competition from 

outsiders and further strengthens the FTC’s case.’”417 

41. Defendants did not show that new hospital entry or repositioning would 

alleviate the competitive impacts of the Acquisition.418 

2. Defendants’ Efficiencies Defense Fails to Rebut the 
Presumption 

42. The Third Circuit has “never formally adopted the efficiencies defense.”419 

1381, 1384 (7th Cir. 1986). Moreover, these letters have no rational business 
justification and should be discounted accordingly. 
414 Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 80. 
415 Sanford, 926 F.3d at 965 (quoting Merger Guidelines § 9). 
416 FTC v. Wilh. Wilhelmsen Holding ASA, 341 F. Supp. 3d 27, 67 (D.D.C. 2018). 
417 St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 788 (quoting Heinz, 246 F.3d at 717). 
418 See supra Findings of Fact Section VIII.A ¶¶ 152-53. 
419 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 347. 
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“Neither has the Supreme Court.”420 If the efficiencies defense exists, it has 

stringent requirements and is subject to a “rigorous analysis.”421 

43. There is no distinction between a procompetitive benefit and an efficiency; 

rather, efficiencies are cognizable only if they are procompetitive in nature.422 

Defendants’ claims that the Acquisition will reduce prices or improve healthcare 

quality through patient transfers and otherwise are efficiencies claims.423 

44. The burden is on the hospitals to “clearly show” that all elements of 

cognizability—verifiability, merger specificity, pass-through, and not arising from 

anticompetitive reductions in output—are met.424 

45. Efficiencies are merger specific if they “represent a type of cost saving that 

could not be achieved without the merger”425 and verifiable if the “estimate of the 

predicted saving [is] reasonably verifiable by an independent party.”426 Further, 

“the Hospitals must demonstrate that such a benefit would ultimately be passed on 

to consumers,” which “requires more than speculative assurances that a benefit 

420 Id. Indeed, “Congress was aware that some mergers which lessen competition 
may also result in economies but it struck the balance in favor of protecting 
competition.” FTC v. Proctor & Gamble Co., 386 U.S. 568, 580 (1967). 
421 Heinz, 246 F.3d at 721. 
422 See, e.g., Hershey, 838 F.3d at 349 (quoting FTC v. Univ. Health, Inc., 938 F.2d 
1206, 1223 (11th Cir. 1991)). 
423 See, e.g., Hershey, 838 F.3d at 350; St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 791-92; Sanford, 
926 F.3d at 965-66; Merger Guidelines § 10. 
424 Hershey, 383 F.3d at 348-49. 
425 H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 89; see also Hershey, 838 F.3d at 348. 
426 H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 89; see also Hershey, 838 F.3d at 348. 
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enjoyed by the Hospitals will also be enjoyed by the public.”427 

46. Defendants fail to show merger specificity because they have not shown that 

their claimed efficiencies “cannot be attained by practical alternatives.”428 Practical 

alternatives include a party’s ability to achieve the efficiency on its own, through a 

joint venture, by other agreement, or through an alternative merger.429 

47. Defendants’ efficiency claims are not verifiable because they are 

predominantly based on projections “generated outside of the usual business 

planning process,” and thus may be “viewed with skepticism.”430 Beyond this, 

their efficiency claims are supported principally by testimony from and interviews 

with Defendants’ executives, but the business judgment of executives is not an 

adequate basis for efficiencies analysis.431 Further, Defendants cost saving 

efficiencies were not subjected to a rigorous analysis and include obvious errors.432 

48. Defendants failed to carry their burden to show that their claimed benefits 

427 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 351. 
428 St. Luke’s, 778 F.3d at 791 n.15 (internal citation omitted). 
429 See, e.g., FTC v. Arch Coal, 329 F. Supp. 2d 109, 151 (D.D.C. 2004); 
ProMedica, 2011 WL 1219281, at *39-40; OSF, 852 F. Supp. 2d at 1094. 
Defendants’ multiple experts did not analyze the availability of practical 
alternatives, much less show that these alternatives could not yield efficiencies 
comparable to those they claim. See supra Findings of Fact Section VIII.C. ¶¶ 176-
76. 
430 Merger Guidelines § 10; ProMedica, 2011 WL 1219281, at *40–41. 
431 H&R Block, 833 F. Supp. 2d at 91. 
432 See supra Findings of Fact Section VIII.C. ¶¶ 171-75. 
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will be passed on to consumers,433 and have not presented cognizable efficiencies 

that would outweigh the harms from the Acquisition. 

IV. The Equities Favor A Preliminary Injunction 

49. “[T]he Hospitals face a difficult task in justifying the nonissuance of a 

preliminary injunction,” because the FTC has shown a likelihood of success.434 In 

such circumstance, “no court has denied a Section 13(b) motion for a preliminary 

injunction based on weight of the equities.”435 

50. “The principal equity weighing in favor of issuance of the injunction is the 

public’s interest in effective enforcement of the antitrust laws.”436 If the 

Acquisition is consummated, and the administrative proceeding then rules it 

unlawful, the FTC’s ability to preserve competition will be severely impaired.437 

51. Defendants offer no valid equities weighing against an injunction. There is 

no reason why, “if the merger makes economic sense now, it would not be equally 

sensible to consummate the merger following an FTC adjudication.”438 

52. The equities decisively favor a preliminary injunction. 

433 Swedish Match, 131 F. Supp. 2d at 172. 
434 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 352 (internal quotation marks omitted). 
435 Sanford, 2017 WL 10810016, at *31. 
436 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 352 (quoting Univ. Health, 938 F.2d at 1225). In weighing 
the equities, the Court must assess “whether the harm that the Hospitals will suffer 
if the merger is delayed will, in turn, harm the public more than if the injunction is 
not issued.” Hershey, 838 F.3d at 352. 
437 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 352-53; see also Heinz, 246 F.3d at 727. 
438 Hershey, 838 F.3d at 353. 
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